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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

FINEMAN KREKSTEIN & HARRIS, P.C. 
A Pennsylvania Professional Corporation 
BY RICHARD J. PERR, ESQUIRE 

JENNIFER TATUM ROOT, ESQUIRE 
BNY Mellon Center 
1735 Market Street, Suite 600 
Philadelphia, PA 19103-7513 
(v) 215-893-8724; (f) 215-893-8719 
e-mail: rperr@finemanlawfirm.com 

jroot@finemanlawfirm.com 
Attorneys for Defendant The CBE Group, Inc. 

THOMAS C. WILLIAMS, 
Plaintiff 

v. 

THE CBE GROUP, INC., 
Defendaut 

CMLACTION 

NO.2:II-cv-03680-FSH-PS 

JURY 1RIAL DEMANDED 

DEFENDANT THE CBE GROUP, INC.'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE 
PLEADINGS AND MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT THEREOF 

Defendaut The CBE Group, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as "CBE"), by and through its 

undersigned counsel, respectfully moves this Court for a judgment on the pleadings pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12( c). 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff Thomas Williams asserts violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

("FDCP A") against CBE based upon the initial notice letter CBE sent to Plaintiff. As discussed 

below, Plaintiff is desperately attempting to manufacture an FDCPA claim where one does not 

exist. After a review of the allegations in Plaintifi's Complaint and the relevant law, it is clear 

that Plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Accordiugly, CBE is 

entitled to judgment on the pleadings. 
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n FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

Plaintiff has filed a purported class action Complaint predicated on a simple fact pattern. 

(See Complaint, 'lMf 9-12, 15-17). Plaintiff's only claim is that the language contained in CBE's 

initial notice letter dated June 25, 2010 violates the FDCPA. (See Complaint, 'If 49). The first 

paragraph of the letter provides as follows: 

This account has been forwarded to our office by Citicorp Credit 
Services, Inc. (USA) regarding your EXXONMOBIL account. 
Our client indicates that your balance of$I,205.41 is past due. To 
prevent further phone calls and receiving future letters in regards to 
this matter, please bring your account current through one of the 
payment options below. We are here to assist you in this matter. 

(See Complaint, Exhibit A). The letter also contains the validation notice required by 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692g(a). 

Plaintiff asserts that the letter violates 15 U.S.C. § l692g(b), § 1692e and § 1692e(IO). 

(See Complaint, 'If 49). Specifically, Plaintiff objects to the following language, "To prevent 

further phone calls and receiving future letters in regards to this matter, please bring your 

account current through one of the payment options below." (See Complaint, 'lMf 12 and IS). 

Plaintiff contends that this language overshadows and is inconsistent with the validation notice, 

which sets forth Plaintiff's rights under 15 U.S.C. § 1692g. (See Complaint, 'If 15). In support of 

his contention, Plaintiff asserts that the least sophisticated consumer would believe that the rights 

outlined in the validation notice "offered no protection" because "the only way to stop phone 

calls and letters would be payment of the alleged debt." (See Complaint, 'If IS). Additionally, 

Plaintiff contends that the initial collection notice is false and misleading in violation of IS 

U.S.C. § 1692e and § l692e(10) because it would cause the least sophisticated consumer to 

believe that the only way to prevent further phone calls or further letters was to pay the alleged 

debt. (See Complaint, ,,/12). 
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On August 8, 2011, CBE filed an Answer which denies that the letter violates the 

FDCPA. (See Answer, W 12, 15-17,49). As discussed more fully below, CBE's letter does not 

violate the FDCP A as a matter of law. Therefore, CBE respectfully requests that Plaintiff's 

Complaint be dismissed with prejudice and judgment be entered for CBE. 

ID. LAW AND ANALYSIS 

A. Standard of Review 

A motion for judgment on the pleadings under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12( c) is 

decided in the same manner as a motion to dismiss under Rille 12(b)(6). Burbach Broad. Co. v. 

Elkins Radio Com., 278 F.3d 401, 405-06 (4th Cir., 2002); Edwards v. City of Goldsboro, 178 

F.3d 231,243 (4th Cir. 1999). "Accordingly, we assume the facts alleged in the complaint are 

true and draw all reasonable factual inferences in [the plaintiff's] favor." Id. On the other hand, 

the Court must not accept conclusions of law or unwarranted inferences cast in the form of 

factual allegations. Morse v. Lower Merion Sch. Dist., 132 F.3d 902, 906 (3rd Cir. 1997). The 

Court must grant a motion for dismissal when there is an absence of law to support a claim of the 

type made, or of facts sufficient to make a valid claim, or if on the face of the complaint there is 

an insurmountable bar to relief indicating that the plaintiff does not have a claim. Marks v. 

Struble, 347 F. Supp. 2d 136, 143 (D.N.J. 2004). 

Under Federal Rille of Civil Procedure 12(c), like Rule 12(b)(6) (dismissal for failure to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted), judgment will not be granted 

{00450022;vl} 

unless the movant clearly establishes that no material issue of fact 
remains to be resolved and that he is entitled to judgment as a 
matter of law. In considering a motion for judgment on the 
pleadings, the trial court is required to view the facts presented in 
the pleadings and the inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light 
most favorable to the nonmoving party. In this fashion the courts 
hope to insure that the rights of the nonmoving party are decided as 
fully and fairly on a rule 12( c) motion, as if there had been a trial. 
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Soc'yHill Civic Ass'n v. Harris, 632 F.2d 1045,1054 (3d Cir. 1980) (citing 5 C. Wright & A. 

Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure, § 1368, at 690 (1969)). 

Plaintiirs Complaint must be dismissed because the letter does not violate the FDCPA. 

Therefore, this Court should grant CBE' s Motion. 

B. CBE'S INITIAL NOTICE LETTER DOES NOT VIOLATE THE FDCPA 
AS A MATTER OF LAW. 

As a matter of law, CBE's initial notice letter complies with the FDCPA, and Plaintiirs 

Complaint should be dismissed. Plaintiirs claim that CBE's initial notice letter violates the 

FDCP A is without merit. Courts evaluate whether a letter complies with the FDCP A from the 

perspective of the least sophisticated consumer. See.!lJb Campuzano -Burgos v. Midland 

Credit Managemeot. Ioc., 550 F.3d 294,298 (3d Cir. 2008); Graziano v. Harrison, 950 F.2d 107, 

III (3d Cir. 1991); Clomon v. Jackson, 988 F.2d 1314, 1318 (2d Cir. 1993). While the least 

sophisticated consumer standard protects naive consumers, it also ''prevents liability for bizarre 

or idiosyncratic interpretations of collection notices by preserving a quotieot of reasonableoess 

and presuming a basic level of understanding and willingness to read with care." Wilson v. 

Ouadramed, 225 F.3d 350,354-55 (3d Cir. 2000) (quoting Clomon, 988 F.2d at 1319) (internal 

quotations omitted). The standard "admits an objective elemeot of reasonableoess," which 

''protects debt collectors from liability fur unrealistic or peculiar interpretations of collection 

letters." Jang v. A.M. Miller & Assocs., 122 F.3d 480, 483-84 (7th Cir. 1997). 

1. CBE's Initial Notice Letter Does Not Overshadow and Is Not 
Inconsistent with the Validation Notice. 

The FDCP A requires debt collectors to provide debtors with a writteo validation notice, 

informing debtors of their rights under 15 U.S.C. § 1692g, including the right to dispute the 

validity of the debt and demand verification within thirty days of receiving the notice. See 15 
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U.S.C. § 1 692g(a). The FDCPA provides: "Any collection activities and communication during 

the 30-day period may not overshadow or be inconsistent with the disclosure of the consumer's 

right to dispute the debt or request the name and address of the original creditor." 15 U.S.C. 

§ l692g(b). A validation notice "is overshadowing or contradictory if it would make the least 

sophisticated consumer uncertain as to her rights." See Wilson. 225 F.3d at 354. In order to 

comply with section l692g(a)'s notice provision, ''the statutory notice must not only explicate a 

debtor's rights; it must do so effectively." Graziano, 950 F.2d at 111. The effectiveness ofa 

collection letter's provision of notice is to be "interpreted from the perspective of the 'least 

sophisticated debtor .... Id. In applying the least sophisticated consumer standard, whether 

language in a collection letter contradicts or oversbadows the validation notice required by 

section l692g is a question oflaw. Wilson. 225 F.3d at 353 n. 2. 

The FDCPA does not require debt collectors to suspend collection activities during the 

30-day validation period. See 15 U.S.C. § l692g(b) ("Collection activities and communications 

tbat do not otherwise violate this title may continue during the 30-day period ... "). During the 

validation period, a debt collector is allowed to request payment of the debt and pursue collection 

efforts, including filing an appropriate lawsuit against the consumer. Durkin v. Equifax Check 

Servs., 406 F.3d 410,415 (7th Cir. 2005); see also D'Addario v. Enhanced Recoverv Co .. LLC, 

2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77682, * 7 (D.N.J. July 14, 2011) ("Nothing in the FDCPAprohibits 

settlement of a debt within the validation period. ") 

CBE's initial notice letter neither overshadows the validation notice nor does it create a 

false sense of urgency. Plaintiff contends that the sentence, "To prevent further phone calls and 

receiving future letters in regards to this matter, please bring your account current through one of 

the payment options below," overshadows the validation notice because it would cause the least 
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sophisticated consumer to believe tbat tbe rights outlined in tbe validation notice offered no 

protection to stop CBE's telephone calls and letters.\! (See Complaint, 'If 15). Plaintiff's letter 

requests tbe consumer to make a payment and infonns tbe consumer tbat by paying tbe account, 

tbe consumer will prevent further letters and phone calls with respect to tbe account. (See 

Complaint, Exhibit A). Contrary to Plaintiff's assertion, tbe use of such language does not 

overshadow tbe validation notice or convey a sense of urgency tbat overshadows tbe validation 

notice. See Wilson v. Ouadramed 225 F.3d 350, 359-60 (3d Cir. 2000); see also Ardino v. 

Nelson. Watson. & Associates, LLC, No. 11-1536,6-8 (D.N.J. July 12,2011) (holding tbat 

collection letter's request that tbe consumer ''please call" during tbe collector's listed business 

hours did not overshadow tbe validation notice because it would not induce consumer to 

overlook her statutory rights); Zemeckis v. Global Credit & Collection Corn .. 2011 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 54169, ** 2-3, 6, 8-9 (N.D. Ill. May 20, 2011) (holding collection letter that urged 

consumer to ''take action now" and to "call our office today" and tbreatened potential legal 

action did not confuse tbe consumer or overshadow tbe 30-day notice); Peak v. Soutbern & 

Allen, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 41101, ** 4, 16 (E.D. Ark. Apr. 27, 2010) (holding initial notice 

letter informing consumer tbat defendant was retained to collect a debt, by lawsuit if necessary; 

that contacting defendant by telephone or mail "may avoid a lawsuit" and explaining that 

payment could be made via defendant's website did not overshadow tbe validation notice); 

Croftcheck v. Computer Credit, Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 124512, ** 11-12 (M.D. Pa. Nov. 

24,2010) (holding tbat collection letter sent during validation period which stated ''This is our 

1/ Plaintiff's argument is that the initial notice letter would cause the least sophisticated consumer to believe 
that the rights outlined in the validation noticed "offered no protection" because the only way to stop the collector's 
letters aod telephone calls was to pay the debt However, a request for validation pursuaot to section l692g is not a 
cease and desist letter, aod therefore, would not permanently stop a collector from making telephone calls or sending 
letters. A consumer's request for validation of a debt only temporarily stops collection activity from the collector 
until validation of the debt is provided. Once the collector provides the consumer with validation of the debt, 
despite the consumer's satisfaction with the validation (or lack thereof), the collector can continue to call and send 
letters to the consumer. 
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FINAL NOTICE and you must take action to resolve this overdue account," and ''be advised this 

is our LAST ATTEMPT to collect this debt" did not overshadow or nullify the rights articulated 

in the previously provided validation notice); Watson v. Certified Credit & Collection Bureau. 

No. 09-1433, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 87533, ** 6-7 (D.N.]. Sept. 23, 2009) (holding that 

collection letter did not violate the consumer protection provisions of the FDCP A because t2009 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 87533he language did "not appear overly antagonistic or intimidating ... "). 

In Wilson, the Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit held that an initial notice letter that 

provided the consumer the opportunity to pay the debt immediately but did not demand payment 

within a specific time period shorter than the 30-day validation period, did not violate section 

1692g of the FDCP A. Wilson, 225 F.3d at 360. The letter in Wilson stated as follows: 

[0 Jur client has placed your account with us for immediate collection. We 
shall afford you the opportunity to pay this bill immediately and avoid 
further action against you. To insure immediate credit to your account, 
make your check payable to ERI. Be sure to include the top portion of this 
statement and place your account number on your remittance. 

rd. at 352 (emphasis added). Wilson argued that the first two paragraphs of Quadramed's letter 

overshadowed and contradicted the validation notice set forth in the third paragraph. In contrast, 

the Third Circuit found as follows: 

Instead, Wilson is presented with two options: (I) an opportunity to pay 
the debt immediately and avoid further action, or (2) notify Quadramed 
within thirty days after receiving the collection letter that he disputes the 
validity of the debt. As written, the letter does not emphasize one option 
over the other, or suggest that Wilson forego the second option in favor of 
immediate payment. Thus, we find the least sophisticated debtor would 
not be induced to overlook his statutory right to dispute the debt within 
thirty days. 

Wilson, 255 F.3d at 356. The court rejected the notion that the least sophisticated consumer 

would interpret "afford you the opportunity to pay this bill immediately" as a demand for 

payment in less than thirty days, especially since this "opportunity" is followed, almost 
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immediately, by the required notice of the right to dispute the debt. Id. at 357. The court also 

noted that the letter did not demand payment or threaten the plaintiff to pay his debt in less than 

the 30-day validation period. Wilson, 225 F.3d at 356. 

Similar to Wilson. eBE' s letter does not demand payment within a time period shorter 

than the 30-day validation period. CBE's letter is less forceful than the Quadramed's letter 

because it does not request that Plaintiff pay the account immediately. CBE' s letter presents 

Plaintiff with two options: (1) pay the debt and stop further telephone calls and letters, or (2) 

notifY CBE within thirty days after receiving the collection letter that he disputes the validity of 

the debt. CBE does not emphasize one option over the other. As a result, Plaintiff would not be 

induced to forego his statutory right to dispute the debt within thirty days in favor of payment. 

Even where the initial notice letter demands the consumer make a payment within the 30-

day validation, courts have held that the letter does not overshadow the validation notice. See, 

!1&. Jacobson v. Healthcare Fin. Servs., 516 F.3d 85,88 (2d Cir. 2008); D'Addario v. Enhanced 

Recovery Co .. LLC, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77682, ** 1-2 (D.N.J. July 14, 2011). In Jacobson. 

the collector sent a letter demanding payment of a debt that stated ''IF YOUR PAYMENT OR 

NOTICE OF DISPUTE IS NOT RECEIVED IN THIS OFFICE WITHIN 30 DAYS, WE 

SHALL RECOMMEND FURTHER ACTION BE TAKEN AGAINST YOU TO COLLECT 

THIS OUTSTANDING BALANCE." Jacobson. 516 F.3d at 88. The Court of Appeals for the 

Second Circuit found that although the letter demanded payment, it "adequately explained that 

the recipient had the right to seek verification of the debt." Id. at 92. The court explained that 

the letter presented the consumer with two alternate ways of avoiding "further action": either pay 

the debt ''within 30 days," or submit a notice of dispute, ''within 30 days." Id. 

{00450022;vl} 8 
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In D' Addario, the collector's initial notice letter offered a "REPAYMENT 

OPPORTUNITY" for the consumer's debt in the amount of $8,744.70. 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

77682 at ** 1-2. As one of the settlement options, the collector offered to settle the consumer's 

account if the consumer paid $3,497.88 within 15 days. Id. at * 2. Despite the fact that the 

settlement offer required payment within the validation period, the court held that it did not 

overshadow the validation notice. Id. at ** 7-10. The court found that even the least 

sophisticated consumer "could not believe that the letter presented him with an 'either / or' 

proposition- i.e., either dispute the debt's validity or pay off the debt, but not both." Id. at * 7. 

The court noted that, similar to the collection letter in Wilson, the letter did not emphasize one 

option over the other or suggest that the consumer forego disputing the debt's validity in favor of 

immediate payment. Id. at * 7. Further, the court noted that the letter did not contain any threats 

or demands whatsoever and did not suggest the possibility oflegal action on the debt. Id. at * 8. 

CBE's letter is far more tame than the collection letter in Jacobson that demanded a 

payment be made during the validation period and the collection letter in D' Addario that 

provided a settlement option that must be accepted during the validation period. CBE' s letter 

informs Plaintiff that he can prevent further telephone calls and letters by paying the account. 

(See Complaint, Exhibit A). The language at issue in CBE's letter is not presented in a way that 

would induce a consumer to forego his statutory rights to dispute the debt or to request 

validation. CBE's letter effectively informs Plaintiff of his right to dispute the validity of the 

debt. Upon reading CBE's letter, the least sophisticated consumer would not be uncertain of his 

right to dispute the validity of the debt. Accordingly, the language in CBE's initial notice letter 

neither overshadows nor contradicts the validation notice. 

{00450022;vl} 9 
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CBE's initial notice letter also does not convey a sense of urgency that overshadows the 

validation notice because it does not induce or threaten Plaintiff to pay the debt and forego his 

rights under section 1692g. See. ~ Stoss v. Commercial Acceptance Company. No. 3:IO-CV-

2258 (M.D. Pa. Jan. 31,2011), attached hereto as Exhibit "A"; Foti v. NCO Financial Systems. 

Inc., 424 F. Supp. 2d 643, 648, 665-66, 667 (S.D.N.Y. 2006). In Stoss, the court held that a 

telephone message from a debt collector that informed the consumer ''this matter requires your 

immediate attention" and "call us as quickly as possible ... " did not create a false sense of 

urgency in violation of the FDCPA. Stoss, No. 3:1O-CV-2258 (M.D. Pa. Jan. 31, 2011) 

(emphasis added). The court explained that the message "simply asked[edl fur the recipient's 

attention" and was "simply a request to return Defendant's telephone call." Stoss, No. 3:1O-CV-

2258 at 7, 12. In Stoss, the court granted the defendant's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings 

and dismissed plaintiff's Complaint. Stoss, No. 3:1O-CV-2258 at 12. 

In Foti the court held that there was no false sense of urgency evoked by a debt 

collector's message which said, "Good day, we are calling from NCO Financial Systems 

regarding a personal business matter that requires your immediate attention. Please call back 

1-866-701-1275, once again please call back:, toll-free, 1-866-701-1275, this is not a 

solicitation." 424 F. Supp. 2d 643, 648, 665-66, 667 (S.D.N.Y. 2006). In Foti the court 

considered whether that message overshadowed the debt collector's initial notice in violation of 

15 U.S.C. § 1692g. mtimately, the court held that the message could not reasonably confuse the 

least sophisticated consumer, nor did it contain misleading or inaccurate information. rd. at 665-

66. 

CBE's letter clearly does not convey a false sense of urgency that overshadows the 

validation notice. Unlike the messages in Stoss and Foti CBE's letter did not ask for Plaintiff's 
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immediate attention. CBE' s letter merely requested payment of the account and provided 

Plaintiff with several payment options to settle his account. Nothing in the FDCP A prohibits 

settlement of a debt within the validation period. D' Addario, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77682 at 

* 7. Courts bave repeatedly empbasized that settlement of debts should be encouraged. See. 

~ Guerrero v. RJM Acquisitions LLC, 499 F.3d 926, 939-40 (9th Cir. 2007) ("Congress in 

passing the Act sought to encourage the prompt and amicable settlement of debts." (empbasis in 

original)). The United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit addressed the critical 

importance of facilitating settlements and noted that discouraging debt collectors from sending 

non-coercive settlement offers would be "plaiulyat variance with the policy ofthe legislation as 

a whole." Lewis v. ACB Bus. Servs., 135 F.3d 389,399 (6th Cir. 1998). Plaintiff's 

interpretation of the FDCP A would unfairly penalize debt collectors who seek to informally 

settle debts during the validation period, which is contrary to Congress's intent. 

Collection letters found to violate section I 692g typically contain language that demands, 

commands, or threatens to take legal action contrary to the consumer's rights under the FDCP A. 

See Ardino, No. 11-1536 at 6-7; Graziano, 950 F.2d at 111. In Graziano, the court found that an 

initial notice letter that demanded payment within ten days and threatened legal action violated 

section 1692g. 950 F.2d at III. The court found that there was an inconsistency between the 

collection letter's demand for payment within ten days and the threat of immediate legal action if 

payment was not made in that time, on the one hand, and its recitation of the statutory notice 

requirements on the other. Id. The court held that the juxtaposition of two inconsistent 

statements rendered the validation notice invalid under section 1692g. Id. The court explained 

that there was a reasonable probability that the least sophisticated consumer would be induced to 

overlook his statutory right to dispute the debt within thirty days. Id. Uulike the collection letter 
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in Graziano. which demanded payment within ten days and threatened immediate legal action if 

payment was not made in that time, CBE' s letter makes no such demand or threat. 

When evaluating whether a collection complies with the FDCP A, the United States Court 

of Appeals for the Third Circnit has emphasized the significance the physical structure and 

language of a debt collection in addition to the letter's language. See Wilson, 225 F.3d at 355 

(explaining that "a collection letter will not meet the reqnirements of the Act where the 

validation notice is printed on the back and the front of the letter does not contain any reference 

to the notice, or one in which the validation notice is overshadowed or contradicted by 

accompanying messages or notices from the debt collector."); Graziano, 950 F.2d 107, III (the 

"notice must be in print sufficiently large to be read, and must be sufficiently prominent to be 

noticed"). In CBE's initial notice letter, the validation notice is presented in the same size font 

and format as the first paragraph of the letter. (See Complaint, Exhibit A). In fact, the validation 

notice is in bold funt while the remainder of the letter is not. Further, the validation notice 

appeared on the same page as the rest of the text. As a result, the formatting of the disputed 

language does not give it a greater "aesthetic emphasis" in comparison to the validation notice 

reqnirement that would overshadow the plaintiff's statutory rights under the FDCP A. Panto v. 

Profl Bureau of Collections, No. 10-4340,2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23328, ** 1, 5 (D.N.J. Mar. 

7,2011). 

The least sophisticated consumer, upon receipt ofCBE's letter, would not be uncertain of 

his or her right to dispute the validity of the debt before paying it. CBE's letter does not threaten 

or induce the least sophisticated consumer to forgeo his statutory right to challenge the validity 

of the debt and does not demand payment immediately or within any time period less than thirty 

days. Therefore, the validation notice provided in CBE' s initial notice letter is neither 
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overshadowed nor contradicted by the remainder of the letter. Accordingly, CBE is entitled to 

judgment as a matter of law on Plaintiff's claim under section 1 692g(b ). 

2. eRE's Initial Notice Letter Is Not False. Deceptive or Misleading. 

Plaintiff's contention that CBE' s initial collection notice is false and misleading is 

without merit. There is nothing false about the statement "To prevent further phone calls and 

receiving future letters in regards to this matter, please bring your account current through one of 

the payment options below." (See Complaint, Exhibit A). Plaintiff's letter requests the 

consumer to make a payment and informs the consumer that by paying the account, the 

consumer will avoid receiving further letters and phone calls. (See Complaint, Exhibit A). 

The FDCPA provides that "a debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or 

misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt." 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692e. The sixteen subsections of § I 692e provide a nonexhaustive list of practices that fall 

within the statute's ban. Clornon, 988 F.2d at 1318. Section 1692e(10) prohibits a debt collector 

from using "any false representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt 

or to obtain information concerning a consumer." 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10). 

The Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit has noted a close relationship between section 

1692e and section 1692g. See Graziano, 950 F.2d at III; see also Roundtree v. Weltman, 

Weinberg & Reis Co. L.P.A., 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 49109 (M.D. Pa. May 9,2011). Whether a 

communication is false, deceptive or misleading in violation of section 1692e is an inquiry 

similar to whether a communication is confusing in violation of section 1692g. See Federal 

Horne Loan Mortg. Com. v. Lamar, 503 F.3d 754, 759 (2d. Cir. 2006); Foti v. NCO Financial 

SYStems, Inc .. 424 F. Supp. 2d 643, 648, 665-67 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (fmding that the standard for 

determining a violation of section 1692e claim is essentially the same as that for of section 
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1692g). Consequently, wheo a plaintiff asserts a similar theory of liability for claims under both 

section 1692g and section 1692e of the FDCPA, courts geoera1ly find either a violation of both 

sections or neither sections. See. ~ Ardioo v. Nelson. Watson. & Associates. LLC, No. 11-

1536 (D.N.J. July 12,2011) (findiog language that did not violate the notice requiremeot of 

section 1692g(a) was also not a "false represeotation or deception" under section 1692e(10); 

Graziano, 950 F .2d at 111 (holdiog that debt collection letter's language that demanded paymeot 

withio teo days was a violation of section 1692g because it "reodered the statutory notice 

invalid" by ineffectively communicating the debtor's rights, and section I 692e( 1 0) because the 

language was "false, misleadiog, or deceptive."); Federal Home Loan Mortg. Corn., 503 F.3d at 

512-13; Vasquez v. Gertler & Gerler. Ltd., 987 F.Supp. 652, 659 (D.N.D. TIl. 1997) (holdiog 

consumer's section 1692e claim was deficieot as a matter of law because the validity of 

consumer's section 1692e claim rested wholly on a findiog a violation of § 1692g). 

Other courts have determined that use of similar language requesting paymeot in letters 

seot during the validation period does not constitute a violation of the FDCPA. Durkin v. 

Equifax Check Services. Inc., 406 F.3d 410, 417 (7th Cir. 2005) ("[T]he simple act of 

demandiog paymeot in a collection letter during the validation period does not automatically 

create an unacceptable level of confusion ... "); see also Vasquez v. Gertler & Gertler. Ltd., 987 

F. Supp. 652, 657 (N.D. TIl. 1997) (holdiog that a letter requesting for payment without "further 

delay" did not demand paymeot within a shorter period than 30 days); Higgins v. Capitol Credit 

Servs .. Inc .. 762 F. Supp. 1128, 1135 (D. Del. 1991) (holdiog that collection letter sent during 

the 30-day validation period with the heading "IMMEDIATE SETTLEMENT NOTICE" and 

informing the consumer ''your account must be settled now" did not violate any provision of the 

FDCPA and merely eocouraged paymeot of the debt). 

{00450022;vl} 14 
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In this case, CBE's letter c1earlydoes not violate the FDCPA. There is nothiog false or 

misleadiog about CBE's letter. CBE's letter merely requests that the consumer make a payment 

to avoid further phone calls and letters. Plaiotiff is attemptiog to assert a claim that has no legal 

support. Therefore, CBE is entitled judgment as a matter of law on Plaiotiff's claims, and 

P1aiotiff's Complaiot should be dismissed with prejudice. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoiog reasons, Defendant The CBE Group, Inc. respectfu11y requests that 

P1aiotiff's Complaiot be dismissed with prejudice. 

FINEMAN KREKSTEIN & HARRIS, P.C. 

By /S/ Richard J. Perr 
RICHARD J. PERR, ESQUIRE 
JENNIFER TATUM ROOT, ESQUIRE 
BNY Mellon Center 
1735 Market Street, Suite 600 
Philadelphia, PA 19103-7513 
(v) 215-893-9300; (t) 215-893-8719 
e-mail: rperr@finemanlawfmn.com 

jroot@fineman1awfirm.com 
Attorneys for Defendant 

Dated: ____ ~A~uw@~~t~8,~2~0~1~1 ________ _ 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, RICHARD J. PERR, ESQUIRE, hereby certify that on or about this date, I served a 

true and correct copy of the foregoing electronically, or by first class mail, postage prepaid, or 

telecopyon the following: 

Philip D. Stern, Esqnire 
Philip D. Stern & Associates, LLC 
697 Valley Street, Suite 2D 
Maplewood, NJ 07040 
(v) 973-379-7500; (f) 973-532-0866 
pstern@philipstern.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

/S/ Richard J. Perr 
RICHARD J. PERR, ESQUIRE 

Dated: August 8, 2011 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

RICHARD STOSS. 

Plaintiff. ,CIVIL ACTION NO. 03,lO-CV-2258 

v. , (JUDGE CONABOY) 

COMMERCIAL ACCEPTANCE COMPANY., 

Defendant. 

p 

FILED 
SCRANTON 

JAN 3 12011 

Before the Court for consideration is Defendant Commercial 

cceptance Company's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings {Doc. 7" 

filed on December 29, 2010. Plaintiff has asserted a violation of 

the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act against Defendant based upon 

telephone message Defendant left on Plaintiff's answering 

achine. Plaintiff filed his Complaint in the Court of Common 

leas of Luzerne County on September 21, 2010. Defendant removed 

the proceeding to this Court (Doc. 1) on November I, 2010. In the 

present motion, Defendant argues that Plaintiff has failed to state 

claim upon which relief can be granted and seeks judgment on the 

leadings. (Doc. 7.) This matter has been fully briefed and ripe 

for disposition. For the reasons discussed below, Defendant's 

otion (Doc. 7) is granted. This case will be closed. 

I • !lACI<GROUND 

Plaintiff Richard Stoss filed his Complaint in the Court of 

ammon Pleas of Luzerne County on September 21, 2010, asserting a 
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iolation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (MFDCPA") 

gainst Defendant Commercial Acceptance Company. (Doc. 11 at 1.) 

Plaintiff alleges that between December 9, 2009, and March 10, 

2010, Defendant placed a telephone call to Plaintiff, while 

ttempting to collect a debt from Plaintiff and left the following 

essage1 
: 

This is a personal and private message for 
Richard Stoss. If you are not Richard Stoss, 
please disconnect this call immediately. 
This message is being sent by Commercial 
Acceptance Company . This call is from a debt 
collector. This matter requires your 
immediate attention. Please call us as 
quickly as possible at 1-800-690 - 3857. You 
may press 2 at any time to repeat this 
message. When calling please reference your 
file number 430963. 

(Id . at 2 .) 

Plaintiff asserts that the statement ~thiB matter requires 

our immediate attentionM created a false sense of urgency - that 

Plaintiff was required to take immediate action to avoid adverse 

onsequences. - (Doc. 8 at 1 (ci ting Complaint '1 12, 13).) 

here fore , Plaintiff contends that the message was false and 

eceptive in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10) a9 it was ~ an 

attempt to garner a return call or payment from Plaintiff.- (Id. 

t 1-2 (citing Complaint' 14, 16).) 

lAs Plaintiff noted in his opposition brief, during the case 
anagement conference Plaintiff requested permission to amend the 
omplaint to state the full message. This Court indicated that it 
ould consider the full message if Plaintiff included it with this 
rief. (DoC. 11 at 1, n.1.) 

2 
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Defendant filed the present motion for judgment on the 

leadings (Doc. 7), along with its supporting brief (Doc. 8) on 

ecember 29, 2010. Plaintiff filed his brief in opposition (Doc. 

1) on January 18, 2011. With the filing of Defendant's reply 

rief (Doc . 14) on January 31, 2011, this matter is ripe for 

isposition. 

II. DISCUSSION 

After reviewing the Complaint and the parties' arguments, we 

find that Plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief 

an be granted and accordingly will grant Defendant's motion for 

judgment on the pleadings (Doc. 7). 

A motion for judgment on the pleadings under Fed . R. eiv. P. 

12(c) is decided in the same manner as a motion to d ismiss under 

u le 12(b) (6). Turbe v . Gav't of Virgin Islands, 938 F.2d 427, 428 

(3d Cir. 1991). The court must accept the allegations in the 

omplaint as true, and draw all reasonable factual references in 

favor of the plaintiff . Id.; Allen ex reI. Martin v. LaSalle Bank, 

N.A., No. 09~1466, 2011 WL 94420 (3d. Cir. Jan . 12, 2011). 

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure set forth the general 

leading requirements for claims brought in federal courts. The 

first step in testing the sufficiency of the complaint is to 

identify any conclu90ry allegations. Ashcroft v. Iqbal, __ U.S. 

, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1950 (2009). ~Threadbare recitals of the 

lements of a cause of action, supported by mere concluBory 

3 
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statements, do not suffice.- Id. at 1949 (citing Bell Atlantic 

Corp. v. Twombly , 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). That is, ~a 

laintiff's obligation to provide the grounds of {his] entitlement 

o relief requires more than labels and conclusions, and a 

formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not 

Twombly. 550 U.S. at 555. Although the court must accept 

ell-pleaded factual allegations of the complaint as true for 

urposes of a motion to dismiss, the court is ~not bound to accept 

as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation,W Id. 

The second step requires the court to review the remaining 

factual averments to ensure the plaintiff has set forth a factual 

asis that provides more than the mere possibility that the al leged 

isconduct occurred: 

[01nlya complaint that states a plausible claim 
for relief survives a motion to dismiss. 
Determining whether a complaint states a 
plausible claim for relief will, as the Court of 
Appeals observed, be a context-specific task 
that requires the court to draw on its judicial 
experience and common sense. But where the 
well-pleaded facts do not permit the court to 
infer more than the mere possibility of 
misconduct, the complaint has alleged - but it 
has not 'shown' - that the pleader is entitled 
to relief.' 

Iqbal, 129 S.Ct. at 1950 (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. S(a) (2)) 

(citations omitted) . 

Plaintiff here asserts that Defendant violated the FDCPA. 

nder the FDCPA, "[a] debt collector may not use any false, 

deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection with 

4 
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the collection of any debt, - 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. When determining 

if a debt collector haa violated this provision , the Court should 

iew the communication from the perspective of the ~lea8t 

ophisticated consumer.- Campuzano-Burgos v. Midland Credit 

anagemenc, Inc., 550 F . 3d 294, 298 (3d. Cir. 2008) (quoting 

Rosena u v. Unlfund Corp., 539 F.3d 218, 222 (3d Cir . 2008)). 

hough thie standard 1s less demanding than a - reasonable debtor-

tandard, the least sophist icated consumer standard prevents a debt 

ol l ector from a liability for -bizarre or idiosyncratic 

interpretations· of their communications with consumers . rd. at 

298·99. This liberal standard helps the Act to protect all 

onsumers • gullible as well as the shrewd - and helps effectuate 

the Acts remedial purpose. Brown v. Card Service Center, 464 F.3d 

50, 453 13d Clr . 2006)). 

Defendant argues that Plaintiff cannot prevail on his claim 

ecause the message Defendant left Plaintiff does not violate the 

FDCPA. (Doc. B at 3.) In support, Defendant asserts that in Foti 

v. NCO Financial Systems, Inc., 424 F. Supp. 2d 643, 665-67 

(S . D.N.Y. 2006). the court held that there was no false sense of 

urgency evoked by a debt collect or 's message which said, "Good day, 

e are calling from NCO Financial Systems regarding a personal 

usiness matter that requires your immediate attention . Please 

all back 1-866-701-1275, once again please call back, toll-free, 

1 - 866-701-1275, this is not a solicitation.~ . (Doc. 8 at 3.) 

5 
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Defendant argues that in Foti, 424 F. Supp. 2d at 665-67, the 

court considered whether that message overshadowed the debt 

collector's initial notice in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 16929 and 

hether it was false and deceptive communication in violation of 15 

,s.c. § 1692e(10). (Doc. 8 at 3.) In Foti, the court determined 

hat the standard for determining a violation of Section 1692e(10) 

s essentially the same as that for section 1692g. rd . at 666-67 

(citations omitted) . Defendant contends that ultimately, the Foti 

ourt held that the message could not reasonably confuse the least 

ophisticated consumer, nor did it contain misleading or inaccurate 

information. (DOC. S at 3-4 (citing Foti, 424 F. Supp. 2d at 665-

66) • ) 

Defendant also argues that other courts have determined that 

se of the phrase "immediate paymentff in collection letters does 

at violate the FDCPA. (Doc. S at 4 (citing Durkin v . Equifax 

Check Services, Inc., 406 F . 3d 410, 417 (7 th Cir. 2005) ("{T]he 

imple act of demanding payment in a collection letter during the 

alidation period does not automatically create an unacceptable 

level of confusion so as to entitle the plaintiffs to summary 

' udgment."); Gervais v . Riddle Assocs, , 363 F. Supp. 2d 345, 353 

(D. Conn. 2005) ("[A] collection letter's demand for immediate 

ayment does not, standing alone, violate the FDCPA. ") (citing 

organ v. Credit Adjustment Bd., Inc., 999 F. Supp . 803 (B,D. Va. 

1998)); Vasquez v. Gertler & Gertler, Ltd., 987 F. Supp. 652, 657 

6 
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(N.D. Ill. 1997) (holding that request for payment without -further 

delay" did not "demand ( ] payment within a shorter period than 30 

days") . 

Defendant argues that based on this case law, the message at 

issue in this case clearly does not violate the FDCPA. (Doc. 8 at 

4 . ) Here, like the message from Foti. Plaintiff alleges that the 

hrase nthis matter requires your immediate attention" created a 

false sense of urgency "in an attempt to garner a return call or 

ayment from Plaintiff," and therefore was false and deceptive. 

Defendant argues such an allegation cannot establish a claim 

nder the FDCPA because just like the message at issue in Foti. the 

resent message is simply a request to return Defendant's telephone 

(Id . ) Defendant argues that there is nothing false or 

eceptive about a message that simply asks for the recipient's 

ttention. (Id . ) 

In his brief in opposition, Plaintiff first argues that the 

essage at issue is false and deceptive. (Doc. 11 at 4.) In 

support, Plaintiff focuses on the word "requires" and lays out a 

ulti - part dictionary definition of the word. (Id. at 4-5.) Then 

pplying those different definitions Plaintiff argues that the 

hrase "requires your immedi ate attention" could be read to have at 

least the following meanings: 

1. the collector had a right and the authority 
to make the consumer give the matter his 
attention; 

7 
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2 . the collector simply requested that the 
consumer give the matter his attention; 

3 . it was necessary or essential for the 
consumer to give the matter his attention, or 

4 . there was a compelling need for the consumer 
to give the matter his attention. 

(Doc. 11 at 6.) According to Plaintiff, only the second sugges t ed 

i nterpretation is acceptable under the FOCPA, and even that 

interpretation is unlikely as it uses an archaic meaning of the 

ord . (Id.) Plaintiff argues that reasonable interpretations of 

the communication would be false as viewed from the perspective of 

the least sophisticated consumer and these inaccuracies should be 

neugh to constitute a per se violation of the Act . rId. at 7.) 

We agree with Defendant that Plaintiff's approach is flawed 

ecauee it leads to the type of - bizarre or idiosyncratic 

interpretation- that the least sophisticated consumer standard is 

designed to guard against. (DOC. 14 at 3.) Plaintiff's approach 

8sumes that the least sophisticated consumer readily knows and 

nderstands the different definitions of the word ·requirea~ and 

resupposes the least sophisticated consumer would apply these 

ifferent definitions to determine whether or not he needed to 

to the matter referred to in Defendant's message. (Id. at 

As Detendant argues, the message in question did not state it 

d the -right or authority- to demand Plaintitf's attention, nor 

the message state that it was -necessary or essential- or that 

8 
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there was a ~compelling needW to respond to the call. (Id. at 4.) 

The message simply stated the ~matter requires your immediate 

attentionH and nothing more. ( ld .) We find the only reasonable 

interpretation of that statement is that the matter required 

Pl aintiff's attention . Any other interpretation would be ~bizarre 

or idiosyncrat ic. H See Campu zano, 550 F . ld at 289 - 99 . 

Plaintiff next argues t hat the statement is somehow false 

ecause " there is no law that requi res a consumer to ever respond 

to a debt collector's attempts at collection. H (Doc . 11 at 6 . We 

re not persuaded by thi s argument. We agree with Defendant that 

it is unreasonable to suggest t hat a debt col l ector cannot use the 

wo r d " r equires" i n any commun ica t ion i t ha s wit h a con s ume r. (Doc. 

14 a t 4. ) As De fe nda nt notes , t he message at issue simpl y r equests 

that Plaint iff return a phone cal l . (Id.) 

Defendant offers Clark v . Capi tal Credit & Coll ec t ion 

Services, In c . , 460 F.3d 1162 (9 th Cir. 2006 ) , where the court 

analyzed whether a debt collector returning a consumer's telephone 

call violated the FDCPA . (Doc . 14 at 4.) The court stated: 

Legislative history indicates that Congress 
enacted the PDCPA to protect consumers from 
~improper conduct W and illegitimate collection 
practices ~without imposing unnecessary 
restrictions on ethi cal collectors . w S . Rep . 
No . 95-382 , at 1 (1977), r eprin t ed in 1977 
U. S.C.C.A.N . 1695 , 1696, 1698 - 99. Certainly, 
there is nothi ng inherently abusive, harassing. 
deceptive or unfair about a return telephone 
call. FN4. 

ENi . Legislative history also reveals a non-

9 
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exhaustive list of practices that, in enacting 
the FDCPA, Congress considered to be 
illegitimate: ~threatB or violence; obscene 
language; the publishing of 'shame listsj' 
harassing or anonymous telephone calls; 
impersonating a government official or 
attorney; misrepresenting the consumer's legal 
rights; simulating court process; obtaining 
information under false pretenses; collecting 
more than is legally owing; and misusing 
postdated checks.M S.Rep. No. 95-382 at 2, 4, 
reprinted in 1977 U.S.C,C.A.N. 1695, 1696, 
1698. A return telephone call, in and of 
itself, is disanalogous to these practices. 

Id. at 1170. 

Here, Defendant argues, that the converse must hold true as 

ell - a debt collector 's request to return a call does not violate 

the FDCAP . (Doc. 14 at 5.) We agree with Defendant, and find that 

to hold that a debt collector cannot request that a debtor return a 

telephone call is not the type of abusive practice the FDCPA is 

upposed to prevent. (Id.) As Defendant argues, such an approach 

~contravenes the peaceable resolution of the debt because it would 

force a debt collector to file Buit. Such a result would clearly 

e at odds with the purpose of the FDCPA. See 15 U.S .C. § 

1692 (el." (Id.1 

Furthermore, there is nothing talse about Defendant's 

statement that the matter required h i s attention . Plaintiff 

lleged that he had an account which is a ~debt~ as that term is 

etined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5). Defendant attempted to collect 

the account by placing a telephone call to Plaintiff. We agree 

~ith Defendant that the matter did require Plaintiff's attention 

10 
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ecause he had not paid off his debt, and that it is disingenou5 to 

rgue that Plaintiff did not have to pay attention to the matter 

efendant called about, while at the same time recognizing that a 

onsumer may exercise his right to require a debt collector to stop 

further communications. (Doc. 14 at 5.) As Defendant argues, the 

onsurner must pay attention to the debt if he is to decide whether 

to exercise his right under the FDCPA. (Id.) If Plaintiff felt 

the debt was invalid, if he disput ed it, if he had a question about 

the balance or why Defendant was contacting him, he would h~ve to 

ay attention to the matter by returning Defendant's call. (Id.) 

herefore, it is not false to state that the matter required 

Plaintiff's attention. 

Finally. we find that that the message in question did not 

create a false sense of urgency. Plaintiff argues that a different 

standard is used to determine a violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10) 

than 15 U.S.C. § 16929, but Plaintiff does not identify what the 

standard is. (Doc. 14 at 6.) We agree with Defendant that the 

rimary case on this issue is Fot i , 424 F . Supp. 2d at 666-67, and 

that there the court found the standard for determining a violation 

f Section 1692e(10) is essentially the same as that for Section 

6929. (Id.) Accordingly. the court held that there was no false 

sense of urgency evoked by a debt collector's message which said, 

~Good day, we are calling from NCO Financial Systems regarding a 

arsonal business matter that require your immediate attention. 

11 
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Please call back 1- 866 - 70 1-1215 , once again please call back , toll-

free, 1-866-701-1275, this is not a solicitation ." (Id . (citing 

Foti, 424 F . Supp . 2d 648, 665 -671.) 

We likewise agree with Defendant that Plaintiff cannot 

istinguish the language in Foti from the language used in this 

atter. We find there is nothing fa lse or deceptive about a 

essage that simply asks for the recipient's attention. To find 

therwise would result in a ~bizarre or idiosyncratic 

interpretation" that the ~least sophisticated consumer" prot ects 

against . See Campuzano, 550 F.ld at 289 -99 

Accordingly , we find that Plaintiff's Complaint fails to state 

claim upon which relief can be granted . Therefore , we wil l grant 

efendant ' B Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons discussed above, Defendant Commercial 

cceptance Company's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (Doc . 7) 

is grante d. This case will be c losed. An appropriate Order 

follows. 

ated , '-U~ {( 
RICHARD P. CONABO 
United Stat es District Ju ge 

12 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

ICHARD STOSS, 

Plaintiff, ,CIVIL ACTION NO. OJ,lO-CV-2258 

v. , (JUDGE CONABOY) 

COMMERCIAL ACCEPTANCE COMPANY" 

Defendant. 

ORDER 

AND NOW, this 3 (~ay of January 2011, for the reasons 

iSCU8sed in the accompanying Memorandum, it is hereby Ordered 

that : 

1. Defendant's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (Doc. 7) 

is GRANTED; 

2. The Clerk of Court is directed to close this case. 

If&! ~~!ofttet4ff( 
United States District Judge 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

THOMAS C. WILLIAMS, 
Plaintiff 

v. 

THE CBE GROUP, lNC., 
Defendant 

AND NOW, this 

ORDER 

day of 

CIVIL ACTION 

NO.2:II-cv-03680-FSH-PS 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

,2011, upon 

consideration of Defendant The CBE Group, Inc. ("Defendant") Motion for Judgment on the 

Pleadings; opposition, if any; arguments of counsel, if any; and for good cause shown, 

ORDERED that Defendant's Motion is GRANTED; and it is further 

ORDERED that the Complaint is DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. 

BY THE COURT: 

J. 
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